STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jan 27 2023

Certiorari to York County

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

TRAVIS HUTCHINSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000752

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR court err finding defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a continuance when petitioner informed the court during the plea proceeding that he had used heroin the prior day and was still “coming down,” rendering petitioner’s guilty plea involuntary?

STATEMENT

On January 18, 2018, a York County grand jury indicted petitioner for possession with intent to distribute (PWID) heroin, possession of cocaine, and escape. App. 151-56. On February 13, 2018, petitioner appeared before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson and pled guilty to PWID heroin, third offense; possession of cocaine, third offense; and escape. App. 1-30. Petitioner was represented by Devon Nielson and the state was represented by assistant solicitor, Marina Hamilton. App. 1. Judge Henderson sentenced petitioner to concurrent terms of fourteen years' imprisonment for PWID heroin, five years' imprisonment for possession of cocaine, and one consecutive year imprisonment for escape. App. 29-30.

Appellate counsel, Robert Pachak, argued, pursuant to an *Anders*¹ brief, “[t]he plea court erred in amending [petitioner’s] indictment from a second offense to a third offense because it increased [petitioner’s] sentencing range.” On June 5, 2019, the Court of Appeals dismissed petitioner’s appeal pursuant to *Anders* review and granted appellate counsel’s motion to be relieved. App. 137.

Thereafter, petitioner filed an application for PCR on January 29, 2020. App. 32-48. An evidentiary hearing was held on April 13, 2022, before the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse. App. 59-135. Petitioner was represented by Ola Johnson and the state was represented by assistant attorney general, Michael Neubauer. App. 59.

On May 24, 2022, Judge Sprouse signed an order denying PCR. App. 136-50. The court found petitioner’s claim that his guilty plea was not voluntary because he used heroin prior to the plea proceeding and was still “coming down” from the use of heroin when he entered his guilty plea was contradicted by counsel’s testimony at the evidentiary hearing and by petitioner’s own

¹ *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

solemn statements at the guilty plea hearing. The court found defense counsel was not ineffective for his failure to request a continuance when he learned petitioner used heroin the previous day and was still “coming down” during his guilty plea because petitioner repeatedly stated he was able to understand the proceedings. The court also likened petitioner’s situation to *Garren v. State*², where the Court reversed the PCR court’s grant of relief holding the applicant failed to establish his incompetence by a preponderance of the evidence. App. 145-47.

This petition follows.

² 423 S.C. 1, 813 S.E.2d 704 (2018).

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred finding defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a continuance when petitioner informed the court during the plea proceeding that he had used heroin the prior day and was still “coming down,” rendering petitioner’s guilty plea involuntary.

Relevant facts

It is undisputed petitioner suffered from the disease of addiction. Defense counsel knew about petitioner’s condition and made the court aware during mitigation. Counsel stated that petitioner had struggled with addiction “throughout much if not all of his adult life and he will continue to struggle when he gets out of prison.” App. 27, l. 25-28, l. 3.

The record reflects that at multiple times during the hearing petitioner appeared confused and acted oddly. App. 2, ll. 15-18; 6, l. 24-7, l. 2; 23, l. 24-24, l. 7. During petitioner’s colloquy with the plea court the following occurred:

The Court: Are you under the influence of any alcohol or drugs today?

Petitioner: I was - - I’m just coming down off heroin.

The Court: Okay, just come down.

Petitioner: Coming down off of it.

The Court: Sir?

Petitioner: Coming down off of it.

The Court: Coming down off of it. So when did you last use?

Petitioner: Yesterday.

The Court: When yesterday?

Petitioner: Morning.

The Court: Yesterday morning. So it has been about 24 hours?

Petitioner: I guess.

...

The Court: How long does it normally take you to get a clear head after using heroin.

Petitioner: I don’t know.

...

The Court: Well, how often have you used heroin?

Petitioner: On a day-to-day basis.

...

The Court: So the fact that you used heroin yesterday morning, does that effect [sic] your ability right now to be able to think, reason, and understand?

Petitioner: No, sir.

...

The Court: You've understood everything we talked about?

Petitioner: Right.

The Court: Now, understanding you may be coming down it may cause you to have some sort of physical problems but mainly you're okay. You are telling me that?

Petitioner: Yes, sir.

App. 12, l. 14-14, l. 17.

After this discussion the guilty plea proceeded without any objection or comment from petitioner's defense counsel. Counsel later told the court that it was his belief that petitioner "fully under[stood] all of his rights," and "fully comprehend[ed]" all the questions asked by the court. App. 25, ll. 7-13.

The state alleged during a traffic stop officers discovered petitioner was driving with a suspended license and he was arrested. When petitioner was searched, he was found to have an amount of cocaine and heroin. While being transported to court, petitioner jumped out of the transport van and was later found less than a mile from the courthouse. App. 20-22. After the state's recitation of the facts petitioner responded oddly to the court's question regarding his alleged escape. Petitioner stated he jumped out of the transport van so he would not get hurt because he was "withdrawing off of heroin" and then told the court he had "no choice." App. 24, ll. 1-7.

At his evidentiary hearing, petitioner testified that the day before his guilty plea he used approximately "five, twenty-dollar bags" of heroin and asserted that it affected his ability to understand the proceedings. App. 73, l. 22-74, l. 5; 89, ll. 19-23. Petitioner testified that while he understood some things during the plea hearing there were things he did not understand, and

he contended that his guilty plea was involuntary. App. 70-71; 72, ll. 5-8.

Specifically, petitioner did not understand that he was pleading guilty to PWID, it was his belief that he was entering a guilty plea to *possession* of drugs. Petitioner was a heroin user and the amount of heroin that he was found with was for his own personal use. App. 70-71. Petitioner testified he did not understand that the amount or “weight” of drugs that he possessed would elevate the charge from possession to PWID. He also did not know that his having the drugs in multiple baggies would lead to a PWID charge. App. 82, ll. 1-14.

The assistant attorney general pressed petitioner, asking several times, why he told the court he understood if he did not understand. Petitioner revealed that he was trying to get through the process and did not feel like the court wanted to “hear” him. App. 88.

Defense counsel testified that he met with petitioner only three times during the course of his representation. App. 104, ll. 6-8. Counsel “thought” petitioner understood their discussions. App. 105, ll. 6-20. He claimed petitioner should have been aware that he was pleading to PWID not possession because he signed the plea affidavit form. App. 113, ll. 9-16. Counsel admitted that he knew petitioner had used heroin the day before but said he only found out when petitioner told the court. Counsel testified that, at the guilty plea hearing, petitioner appeared as he had in their prior meetings. App. 115, ll. 11-24.

Counsel did not feel that he should have requested a continuance regardless of petitioner having used heroin because petitioner seemed to understand the proceedings. Counsel did acknowledge that if he had moved for a continuance the court “might have let [petitioner] plead a day or two later in the week.” App. 116, ll. 1-18. Counsel maintained petitioner never wanted to go to trial and had he not pled guilty that day he would have pled guilty at a later date. App. 117, ll. 7-12.

Discussion

Petitioner could not have entered a guilty plea “voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently, considering the fact that he used heroin daily and was admittedly “coming down” from heroin at the time of the guilty plea. Counsel was ineffective where he failed to request a continuance when petitioner revealed that he was under the influence of heroin.

“The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.” *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985). “Defendants have a Sixth Amendment right to counsel, a right that extends to the plea-bargaining process.” *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 US, 156, 162 (2012).

“Entering a guilty plea results in a waiver of several constitutional rights, therefore the Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently by defendants.” *Pittman v. State*, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 624 (1999). “Specifically, a defendant must be aware of the privilege against self-incrimination, the right to a jury trial, and the right to confront one’s accusers.” *Id.* A defendant must also “be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived.” *Id.*

Every criminal defendant has the right to be present at his trial, and this right includes the right to be mentally present. U.S. Const. amends. V, VI, XIV. The conviction of an accused person while he is incompetent violates due process. *Pate v. Robinson*, 383 U.S. 375, 378 (1966). In *Sanders v. United States*, 373 U.S. 1, 5 (1963), the defendant alleged his guilty plea was involuntary because of narcotics administered at the jail. During the guilty plea, the defendant asked the judge to send him to a specific prison “for addiction cure” and stated he had “been using

narcotics off and on for quite a while.” *Id.* at 4. The habeas judge denied relief without a hearing and the United States Supreme Court reversed. *Id.* at 19 – 23.

The *Sanders* Court noted that “[w]hether or not petitioner was under the influence of narcotics would not necessarily have been apparent to the trial judge.” *Id.* at 20. “However regular the proceedings at which he signed a waiver of indictment, declined assistance of counsel, and pleaded guilty might appear from the transcript, it still might be the case that petitioner did not make an intelligent and understanding waiver of his constitutional rights.” *Id.* at 19-20. *See also Hansford v. United States*, 365 F.2d 920, 924 (D.C. Cir. 1966) (“This reasoning applies with particular force to a defendant who may be under the influence of narcotics, since the symptoms and effects of an acute brain syndrome produced by narcotics will often not be apparent to a lay observer, even a judge, but only to an expert.”).

The PCR court erred finding petitioner failed to establish his incompetence by a preponderance of the evidence. The record reflects that petitioner acted oddly during the guilty plea hearing where he signed the wrong portion of the plea affidavit, and his answers when not rote were occasionally unresponsive. Moreover, petitioner revealed to the court that he was a drug user, had used heroin the day before, and was “coming down” from heroin during his guilty plea hearing. Counsel’s statements during the plea hearing substantiated petitioner’s drug use. Petitioner testified at the evidentiary hearing that he did not fully understand what he was pleading guilty to during the proceeding.

Defense counsel’s belief that petitioner understood does not signify where he admittedly met with petitioner only three times and where during their minimal time together petitioner was likely under the influence of heroin. As stated by the Court in *Sanders*, mental issues and intoxication *are not easy to spot*. Thus, counsel’s belief regarding petitioner’s understanding and

the plea court's acceptance of petitioner's rote answers regarding his understanding are unsurprising.


In finding petitioner's allegation was without merit the PCR court compared *Garren v. State*, to the case at hand. In *Garren*, the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed the PCR court's grant of relief holding Garren failed: (1) to show deficient performance arising from plea counsel's failure to seek a competency evaluation as required to support his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel; (2) demonstrate prejudice arising from plea counsel's failure to seek competency evaluation, as required to support his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel; and (3) demonstrate that his guilty plea was rendered involuntary by medications he was purportedly being given while in jail. *Garren v. State*, 423 S.C. 1, 813 S.E.2d 704 (2018).

Contrary to the PCR court's order petitioner's case differs substantially from *Garren*. In that case Garren did not inform the plea court that he was under the influence of any substance. Here, the transcript of the plea hearing reflects that petitioner informed the court that he had used heroin the previous day and was "coming down." Additionally, petitioner's other statements demonstrated his confusion that day. Unlike in *Garren* petitioner testified at the evidentiary hearing as to what substance he was on during his guilty plea. Petitioner also testified regarding the approximate amount of heroin he used, which he stated would have been a great amount to most people.

Here petitioner's guilty plea was not entered voluntarily, intelligently, or knowingly where he informed the plea court and testified at PCR that he recently used heroin and counsel was ineffective for not at the very least moving to have petitioner's case continued to a time where he was not under the influence of heroin.

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing argument, a writ of certiorari should be issued to allow full briefing on the issue.



Sarah E. Shipe
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER