STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

On Writ of Certiorari to York County  
Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2022-000752

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jun 12 2023**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

TRAVIS SEMAJ HUTCHINSON,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR judge correctly determined Hutchinson failed to meet his burden of establishing he was entitled to relief because: (1) he did not credibly demonstrate he was incompetent or otherwise incapable of validly entering a guilty plea at the time he did so as a result of his supposed use of heroin on the preceding morning; and (2) he failed to show either defense counsel was deficient for failing to request a continuance under the circumstances involved or there was a reasonable probability of a different outcome but for defense counsel’s supposed deficiency in that regard.**

Hutchinson contends the PCR judge reversibly erred by failing to grant him relief. As support for that contention, Hutchinson maintains the PCR judge should have determined: (1) his guilty plea was not a voluntary, intelligent, and knowing one because he stated he had “recently” used heroin prior to his entry of the plea; and (2) defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to request a continuance to have the case continued “to a time where he was not under the influence of heroin.” To the contrary, Hutchinson—just as the PCR judge correctly concluded—failed to meet his burden of establishing either he was incompetent at the time he pled guilty due to his claimed usage of heroin a day earlier or defense counsel’s performance was constitutionally ineffective. Under such circumstances, the PCR judge properly determined Hutchinson was not entitled to relief since he did not and could not meet his burden of establishing either the degree of incompetency necessary to support his claim concerning the validity of his guilty plea or the deficiency and prejudice required to support his ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Hutchinson’s petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

### **Law Applicable to Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claims**

In every criminal case tried in South Carolina, the defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial. State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001). Pursuant to that right, the defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel. McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n. 14 (1970). However, that does not mean entitlement to perfect or mistake-free

representation. Burt v. Titlow, 571 U.S. 12, 24 (2013). Instead, it simply means assistance that was objectively reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-688 (1984). Meanwhile, counsel’s assistance is considered constitutionally ineffective only when “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686.

When faced with a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a reviewing court must conduct a two-pronged analysis. Franklin v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 563, 570, 552 S.E.2d 718, 722 (2001). Pursuant to that two-pronged analysis, an applicant must establish: (1) counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel’s deficient performance. Williams v. State, 363 S.C. 341, 343, 611 S.E.2d 232, 233 (2005). Thus, the applicant has the heavy burden of establishing both deficiency and prejudice in order to be entitled to relief. Hughes v. State, 346 S.C. 554, 558, 552 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2001).

Regarding the deficiency prong of the analysis, the proper measure of performance is whether counsel provided representation within the objectively reasonable range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985); see Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 110 (2011) (instructing the proper analysis “calls for an inquiry into the objective reasonableness of counsel’s performance, not counsel’s subjective state of mind”). To establish deficiency, the applicant must demonstrate “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 687. Thus, counsel’s performance will be considered deficient only when it objectively amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms and not when it simply “deviated from best practices or most common custom.” Richter, 562 U.S. at 105.

Beyond satisfying the burden required by the deficiency prong, an applicant also bears the burden of establishing prejudice in order to be entitled to relief as “[a]n error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. For that burden to be met, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant to such an extent there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel’s unprofessional errors. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Moreover, “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” Richter, 562 U.S. at 112; see Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694 (“A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.”).

Furthermore, when an applicant is raising a challenge to a guilty plea predicated upon an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the same two-pronged analysis remains applicable. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985). “In the context of a guilty plea, the deficiency prong inquiry turns on whether the plea was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered.” Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 360, 745 S.E.2d 97, 102 (2013). Meanwhile, to establish prejudice in the context of a guilty plea, the applicant must demonstrate there was a reasonable probability the applicant would not have pled guilty and, instead, would have insisted on going to trial but for defense counsel’s errors. Hill, 474 U.S. at 59; see Jones v. State, 333 S.C. 6, 8, 507 S.E.2d 324, 325 (1998) (“A defendant who pleads guilty on the advice of counsel may collaterally attack the plea only by showing that (1) counsel was ineffective and (2) there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty.”). Significantly, due to the finality interests at stake, caution must be exercised before a guilty plea is set aside in a case

in which a proper plea colloquy was conducted. Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 468-469, 765 S.E.2d 123, 129 (2014).

### **Law Concerning Capacity to Enter a Valid Guilty Plea**

In order to plead guilty, a criminal defendant must be competent. State v. Finklea, 388 S.C. 379, 383, 697 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2010); see Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 171 (1975) (recognizing “a person whose mental condition is such that he lacks the capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings against him, to consult with counsel, and to assist in preparing his defense may not” enter a valid guilty plea); Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 378 (1966) (recognizing that the conviction of an incompetent person violates due process). Furthermore, the defendant’s decision to plead guilty must be a knowing and voluntary one. Garren v. State, 423 S.C. 1, 14, 813 S.E.2d 704, 711 (2018).

Concerning the competency requirement, an accused must have “sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding” and “a rational and as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him” in order to be competent to enter a guilty plea. Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402, 402 (1960); see Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389, 398 (1993) (“[W]e reject the notion that competence to plead guilty or to waive the right to counsel must be measured by a standard that is higher than (or even different from) the Dusky standard.”). Importantly, the burden of establishing incompetency rests solely upon the accused, and the accused must prove his incompetency by a preponderance of the evidence in order to be found to lack the requisite competency and capacity to enter a plea. State v. Nance, 320 S.C. 501, 504, 466 S.E.2d 349, 351 (1996). Relatedly, to obtain relief in the PCR setting based on purported incompetency, “the petitioner must prove by a preponderance of the evidence

that he was incompetent when he entered his guilty plea.” Matthews v. State, 358 S.C. 456, 458-459, 596 S.E.2d 49, 50 (2004).

Meanwhile, concerning the “knowing and voluntary” requirement, the defendant must actually understand the significance and consequences of a particular decision and that decision must be uncoerced. Garren, 423 S.C. at 14, 813 S.E.2d at 711. Obviously, in some circumstances, ingestion of medication or drugs *could* affect a defendant’s mental state to a sufficient degree to undermine the defendant’s ability to enter a voluntary plea. Id. at 15, 813 S.E.2d at 711. However, “[t]he mere ingestion of drugs is insufficient to render a person incapable of pleading guilty[,]” and that “is true even when dealing with recent ingestion of drugs or drug addiction.” Cross v. State, 928 S.W.2d 418, 419 (Mo. Ct. App. 1996) (citations omitted). Instead, in order to establish the influence of drugs or medication rendered a guilty plea involuntary in the PCR setting, the defendant bears the burden of showing the defendant’s mental faculties were so impaired by drugs at the time of the guilty plea the defendant was incapable of: (1) fully understanding and appreciating the charges; (2) comprehending the defendant’s constitutional rights; and (3) realizing the consequences of the plea. Garren, 423 S.C. at 15, 813 S.E.2d at 712; see Green v. State, 792 S.W.2d 15, 17 (Mo. Ct. App. 1990) (“The ingestion of drugs only invalidates a guilty plea where the ability of the defendant to understand the proceedings and give free assent are impaired.”).

#### **Application of the Relevant Law to Hutchinson’s Case**

In the case sub judice, Hutchinson made repeated representations to the plea judge he understood what was going on and was capable of going forward with the guilty plea despite having supposedly ingested heroin roughly *twenty-four hours* earlier, and Hutchinson later affirmed during the PCR evidentiary hearing afforded to him he had *not* been lying to the plea

judge during their colloquy. See Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 73-74 (1977) (“[T]he representations of the defendant, his lawyer, and the prosecutor at [a guilty plea] hearing, as well as any findings made by the judge accepting the plea, constitute a formidable barrier in any subsequent collateral proceedings. Solemn declarations in open court carry a strong presumption of verity.”); see also Sanders v. United States, 373 U.S. 1, 21 (1963) (remanding for an evidentiary hearing upon concluding a transcript from a plea hearing did not *standing alone* “conclusively” show Sanders was not entitled to relief as required by a federal statute applicable to Sanders’s case). In addition to that, defense counsel explained during the evidentiary hearing his interactions with Hutchinson prior to the guilty plea were not unusual and did not cause him to suspect Hutchinson’s ability to understand was impaired at that time, which meant he had no reason to suspect a continuance was warranted or needed in a case in which Hutchinson had already once delayed the proceedings by absconding from the courthouse before the matter could proceed forward. See Cross, 928 S.W.2d at 419 (“The motion court found that trial counsel’s remarks negated any claim that [Cross] was under the influence of drugs at the time his guilty plea was entered. In a proceeding for postconviction relief, the credibility of the witness is for the motion court’s determination.”); see also State v. Burgess, 356 S.C. 572, 575, 590 S.E.2d 42, 44 (Ct. App. 2003) (“Factors to be considered in determining whether further inquiry into a defendant’s fitness to stand trial is warranted include evidence of his or her irrational behavior, *his or her demeanor at trial*, and any prior medical opinion on his or her competence to stand trial.” (emphasis added)); cf. Jeter v. State, 308 S.C. 230, 233, 417 S.E.2d 594, 596 (1992) (concluding defense counsel’s testimony concerning Jeter’s behavior at the time he pled guilty supported the PCR judge’s determination Jeter had failed to meet his burden of establishing he was incompetent at the time of his plea). Beyond that, Hutchinson’s expressed ability to

remember in detail *years later* what occurred during the guilty plea hearing, what occurred on the day before that hearing when he supposedly had actually ingested heroin, and what his personal motivations were for his actions on those two days appeared to be starkly inconsistent with Hutchinson having been in an altered and incompetent state at the time he pled guilty to his crimes. See United States v. Hardimon, 700 F.3d 940, 943 (7th Cir. 2012) (“A combination of deeply confused or clouded thinking with coherent speech and a normal demeanor is rare[.]”); cf. Burgess, 356 S.C. at 576 n. 8, 590 S.E.2d at 44 n. 8 (concluding Burgess’s demonstrated ability to provide a detailed account of past events “seem[ed] to undercut any question of her lack of competency to stand trial”). Meanwhile, no expert testimony, medical evidence, or anything similar was presented to suggest usage of heroin one day earlier would render a person—including Hutchinson—incompetent or otherwise incapable of entering a valid guilty plea. See Garren, 423 S.C. at 15, 813 S.E.2d at 712 (“If a PCR applicant claims his guilty plea was involuntary due to the influence of medication, he must show that his mental faculties were so impaired by drugs when he pleaded that he was incapable of full understanding and appreciation of the charges against him, of comprehending his constitutional rights, and of realizing the consequences of his plea. A PCR court must consider *objective data* about the nature and effect of the medication the defendant had taken and evaluate whether such medication had the capability to produce a sufficient effect on his mental faculties to render him incompetent to enter a guilty plea.” (emphasis added and citations and internal quotations omitted)).

Considering the testimony and evidence that was presented along with the testimony and evidence that was *not* presented, Hutchinson—just as the PCR judge aptly concluded—failed to establish he was incompetent or otherwise incapable of entering a valid guilty plea at the time he pled guilty as a result of his supposed use of some heroin roughly one full day earlier. Cf.

Barker v. State, 776 S.W.2d 451, 453 (Mo. Ct. App. 1989) (“Movant’s response that he had had no drugs or alcohol for one day preceding the plea hearing, except for Librium and allergy medication, and his responses to the trial court’s detailed questions about those medications, coupled with his straightforward responses to the trial court’s other inquiries, offer ample support in the record that he was not incapable of pleading guilty by reason of drugs.”). Likewise, Hutchinson failed to demonstrate defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to seek a continuance in Hutchinson’s case because he did not establish the existence of the requisite deficiency and prejudice. See Johnson v. Catoe, 336 S.C. 354, 359, 520 S.E.2d 617, 619 (1999) (explaining “a PCR applicant who has pled guilty on advice of counsel cannot satisfy the prejudice prong on collateral attack if he states he would have pled guilty in any event”); cf. Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 163, 485 S.E.2d 367, 370 (1997) (“To show prejudice stemming from the late continuance motion, Wolfe would have to demonstrate that (1) the trial court would have abused its discretion in refusing to grant a continuance motion so that Wolfe could get a private competency evaluation, and (2) such a competency evaluation likely would have affected the ultimate result of the competency hearing. Wolfe presented no medical evidence at the PCR hearing suggesting he had been incompetent to stand trial or to participate in his defense. Given the absence of such evidence, Wolfe has failed to demonstrate he was prejudiced by the trial court’s failure to grant a continuance.”).

Because Hutchinson failed to meet his burden of proving either he was incapable of entering a valid guilty plea due to his supposed drug usage or defense counsel’s act of not seeking a continuance under the circumstances involved constituted deficient performance resulting in the prejudice necessary to warrant a grant of relief, the PCR judge correctly rejected Hutchinson’s claims, and his ruling in that regard was neither unsupported by the evidence

appearing in the record nor clearly erroneous. See *Speaks v. State*, 377 S.C. 396, 399, 660 S.E.2d 512, 514 (2008) (“In post-conviction proceedings, the burden of proof is on the applicant to prove the allegations in his application.”); see also *Sellner*, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (instructing a post-conviction relief judge’s factual finding will be upheld if supported by any evidence and a post-conviction relief judge’s decisions will only be reversed where controlled by an error of law). Accordingly, Hutchinson’s PCR application was properly denied and dismissed. See *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 700 (“Failure to make the required showing of either deficient performance or sufficient prejudice defeats the ineffectiveness claim.”); *Garren*, 423 S.C. at 16, 813 S.E.2d at 712 (“In a PCR action, the petitioner bears the burden of proof and is required to show by a preponderance of the evidence he was incompetent at the time of his plea.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)). Hutchinson’s petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.